Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jpba



Review

Fundamental aspects of chiral electromigration techniques and application in pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis

Gerhard K.E. Scriba*

Friedrich Schiller University Jena, Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Philosophenweg 14, 07743 Jena, Germany

A R T I C L E I N F O

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 10 September 2010 Received in revised form 11 November 2010 Accepted 12 November 2010 Available online 23 November 2010

Key words: Capillary electrophoresis Enantioseparation Pharmaceuticals Review

Contents

Capillary electromigration techniques are often considered ideal methods for the analysis of chiral compounds due to the high resolution power and flexibility of the technique. Therefore, especially capillary electrophoresis using a chiral selector in the background electrolyte, also termed electrokinetic chromatography, has found widespread acceptance in analytical enantioseparations of drug compounds in pharmaceuticals and biological media. Moreover, mechanistic studies on analyte complexation by the chiral selectors have continuously been conducted in an effort to rationalize enantioseparation phenomena. These studies combined capillary electrophoresis with spectroscopic techniques such as nuclear magnetic resonance and/or molecular modeling. The present review focuses on recent examples of mechanistic aspects of capillary electromigration enantioseparations and summarizes recent applications of chiral pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis published between January 2009 and August 2010.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1.	Introduction	688			
2.	Fundamental aspects				
	2.1. Spectroscopic methods in analyte-selector complexation	689			
	2.2. Chiral CE separations combined with molecular modeling	691			
	2.3. Migration models	692			
3. Capillary electrophoresis in stereoisomer analysis					
	3.1. Pharmaceutical analysis	695			
	3.2. Biomedical analysis	697			
	3.3. Further applications	698			
4.	Conclusions and outlook	699			
	References	699			

1. Introduction

The importance of the stereochemistry of pharmaceutical drugs is well recognized as stereoisomers often differ in their pharmacological, toxicological and/or pharmacokinetic profile. This has also affected the requirements for chiral compounds by regulatory authorities worldwide. For example, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) require the development of a single enantiomer of a drug candidate if the enantiomers differ qualitatively or quantitatively in their pharmacological action or toxicological profile. As a consequence, 12 drugs of the top 20 products according to their sale in 2009 are single

E-mail address: gerhard.scriba@uni-jena.de

enantiomer drugs, while 4 drugs are achiral compounds, 3 products are marketed as racemates and one product is a combination of a chiral and a racemic drug [1]. In fact, the top 3 products are single enantiomer drugs. For drug development and quality control the determination of the stereoisomeric composition and purity of a compound requires sensitive and accurate analytical methods in order to determine the stereoisomer ratios in synthetic products, pharmaceutical formulations and biological samples.

Among the separation techniques, high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and capillary electrophoresis (CE) are most often applied in stereoisomer analysis. Specific advantages of CE are the high separation efficiency, rapid method development and consumption of only small amounts of chemicals and drugs. The most common modes of chiral CE are electrokinetic chromatography (EKC) in the presence of a chiral selector, micellar electrokinetic chromatography (MEKC) and more recently microemulsion

^{*} Fax: +49 3641 949830.

^{0731-7085/\$ -} see front matter © 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2010.11.018

electrokinetic chromatography (MEEKC). Moreover, capillary electrochromatography (CEC) has been investigated combining the high efficiency of electromigration techniques with the high selectivity of stationary phases.

Within the many analytes and applications of pharmaceutical, chemical, environmental and natural products that have been described for chiral electromigration techniques the present review will focus on pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. With a few exceptions of research which appeared to be of specific interest, only publications dating between January 2009 and August 2010 have been considered. Previously published literature has been summarized in recent reviews on the stereoisomer analysis of pharmaceuticals [2–4] and drug analysis in biological media [5,6], general pharmaceutical analysis by CE [7–10] as well as in general reviews on chiral electromigration techniques [11–15]. Furthermore, the reader is referred to recently published monographs on chiral CE [16] and CE in pharmaceutical analysis [17].

2. Fundamental aspects

Efforts have continued to evaluate the structure of analyte–selector complexes in an attempt to understand the complexation behavior and its effect on analyte separation in EKC. Spectroscopic techniques such as nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, X-ray crystallography as well as molecular modeling have been employed. Furthermore, mathematical models were developed to quantitatively describe the migration behavior of analytes.

2.1. Spectroscopic methods in analyte-selector complexation

A comprehensive review on chiral recognition mechanism studies primarily by spectroscopic and modeling techniques has been published by Lämmerhofer [18]. Uccello-Barretta et al. reviewed the use of NMR for the rationalization of enantiorecognition processes [19]. The application of chemoinformatic techniques to the exploration of enantioselective molecular recognition mechanisms has been summarized in [20]. Furthermore, a web-based program on CD-ligand complexation data has been described [21]. Although these publications focus on enantiorecognition processes in chromatography conclusions may certainly be drawn from these for EKC as well. Most publications combining CE enantioseparations and NMR spectroscopy investigated the interaction between the analytes and CDs. However, an increasing number of studies dealt with other classes of chiral selectors as well as the interaction between analytes and chiral micelles.

Servais et al. have performed a number of NMR and CE studies in an attempt to rationalize the affinity pattern of CDs towards the enantiomers of propranolol in aqueous [22] and non-aqueous background electrolytes [23]. The migration order of the propranolol enantiomers was investigated in the presence of various CDs in aqueous buffers, pH 3.0 [22]. Using β -CD or the neutral derivative 2,3,6-trimethyl-β-CD (TM-β-CD) as chiral selector the S-enantiomer migrated in front of the R-enantiomer while in the presence of sulfated single isomer CDs, i.e. heptakis(6-O-sulfo)-β-CD (HS-β-CD), heptakis(2,3-O-diacetyl-6-O-sulfo)-β-CD (HDAS- β -CD) and heptakis(2,3-O-dimethyl-6-O-sulfo)- β -CD (HDMS- β -CD), the migration order was reversed so that the Renantiomer migrated in front of the S-enantiomer. The migration order is stated as obtained in the normal polarity mode (detection at the cathode) despite the fact that reversed polarity was applied in some cases. Subsequent NMR measurements including 1D rotating frame nuclear Overhauser effect spectroscopy (1D ROESY) experiments revealed that the naphthyl moiety of propranolol enters the cavity of β -CD from the wider rim containing the secondary

hydroxyl groups while the naphthyl residue enters the cavity of HS- β -CD from the narrower rim bearing the primary hydroxyl groups which are derivatized with the sulfate groups. These structural differences of the transient diastereomeric propranolol-CD complexes explain the differences in the enantiomer migration order observed in CE experiments. Comparing the migration behavior of the propranolol enantiomers in aqueous and non-aqueous background electrolytes opposite enantiomer migration order was noted in the presence of HDMS- β -CD when the aqueous buffer was switched to a non-aqueous background electrolyte [23]. In contrast, the migration order remained the same using HDAS-β-CD independent of the nature of the background electrolyte. As above, the migration order is stated as obtained in the normal polarity mode (detection at the cathode). The structures of the complexes between the propranolol enantiomers and both CD derivatives were investigated by 1D ROESY experiments in aqueous and nonaqueous electrolyte solutions. In an aqueous solution, an inclusion complex between HDAS- β -CD and the analytes was apparently not formed as indicated by the lack of significant nuclear Overhauser effects (NOE) between propranolol protons and CD protons located inside the cavity in the 1D ROESY spectra. In contrast, strong interactions between the protons of the side chain of the propranolol molecule and the H3 and H5 protons inside the cavity of HDAS- β -CD were observed as were interactions between protons of the naphthyl moiety and the H2 and H4 protons of the CD located outside of the cavity. This suggests a structure of the complex with the side chain of propranolol entering the CD cavity from the wider, secondary rim of the CD as depicted in Fig. 1A for (R)propranolol. Despite the fact that different complexes were formed, an identical migration order of the propranolol enantiomers in both types of background electrolyte was observed using HDAS-β-CD as chiral selector. In the case of the complexes between the propranolol enantiomers and HDMS-β-CD in aqueous and non-aqueous solutions the opposite situation was observed in the 1D ROESY experiments. Thus, an inclusion complex was formed in the aqueous background electrolyte, while no analyte inclusion appeared to occur in non-aqueous solutions. Moreover, a completely different complex was formed between the propranolol enantiomers and HDMS- β -CD compared to the propranolol-HDAS- β -CD complex. Thus, as indicated by the NOE the naphthyl moiety of propranolol enters the cavity of HDMS- β -CD from the narrower, primary side as shown in Fig. 1B. The different complexes formed in aqueous and non-aqueous solutions may be the reason for the inversion of the enantiomer migration order observed in the CE experiments in the presence of HDMS- β -CD. Thus, different complexes, i.e. inclusion and non-inclusion complexes, do not necessarily translate into an opposite enantiomer migration order. Moreover, the study demonstrated for the first time that different complexes of an analyte may be formed in aqueous and non-aqueous electrolyte solutions.

Chankvetadze and co-workers have performed a study including NMR and EKC in order to explain the migration behavior of the enantiomers of cis-ketoconazole and cis-terconazole in the presence of 2-hydroxypropyl- β -CD (HP- β -CD) [24]. Both compounds showed a selector concentration-dependent reversal of the enantiomer migration order in a 100 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 3.0, as background electrolyte (Fig. 2). The complexation constants were determined by NMR and CE. Although the absolute values differed depending on the technique, 2S,4R-ketoconazole and (-)cis-terconazole were complexed stronger which is in agreement with the migration order observed at low HP-B-CD concentrations. However, the stronger complexes also displayed the higher complex mobilities. As a consequence, the enantiomer migration order is reversed at high CD concentrations when the enantiomers essentially exist only in the complexed form and complex mobility becomes the dominant factor responsible for the enantioseparation. The authors concluded that this can be considered as



¹H reference spectrum



Fig. 1. 1D ROESY spectrum and proposed structure of the R-propranolol–CD complex (A) HDAS-β-CD in methanolic background electrolyte and (B) HDMS-β-CD in aqueous background electrolyte. The spectra show the responses of the propranolol protons upon irradiation of the CD protons. Adapted from [23] with permission.

experimental proof of the earlier proposed theory of the possibility of EKC separations based solely on differences in the mobilities of the analyte–selector complexes [25,26].

Jamali et al. studied a dual CD system for the enantioseparation of glitazone compounds pioglitazone, rosiglitazone and balaglitazone [27]. Using either 2,6-dimethyl- β -CD (DM- β -CD) or sulfobutylether- β -CD (SBE- β -CD) as chiral selector the separation of the test compounds was observed at pH 2.5 and 9.3, respectively, but a single CD proved to be insufficient to achieve the desired resolution $R_S > 3$. Thus, a dual CD system was optimized by factorial design. Although the optimum concentrations of the CDs were different for each compound a generic separation system consisting of 3 mM DM- β -CD and 12 mM SBE- β -CD in a 50 mM borate buffer, pH 9.7, was identified resulting in $R_S > 5$ for all glitazones. In NMR experiments rosiglitazone was investigated with the individual CDs as well as the CD mixture. SBE- β -CD interacted primarily with the pyridine moiety, while in the case of DM- β -CD the main interaction occurred with the phenyl moiety of the glitazone molecule. The authors concluded from the EKC and NMR experiments that both CDs act as chiral selectors and SBE- β -CD additionally increases the migration time resulting in an optimized enantioseparation. Moreover, the CDs appeared to display opposite chiral recognition towards the enantiomers resulting in the superior enantioseparation compared to the use of a single CD as chiral selector. Further recent studies using NMR spectroscopy for the understanding of analyte complexation by CDs in CE separations include the enantioresolutions of vinca alkaloids by several β -CD and γ -CD derivatives [28], tosyl and dansyl derivatives of pregabalin by β -CD [29] and chiral carboxylic acids by pyrrolidinium- β -CD [30].

A combined CE and NMR study was performed to investigate enantioseparation of catechin by sinorhizobial octasaccharides



Fig. 2. Effect of the concentration of HP- β -CD on the enantioseparations of *cis*ketoconazole (A) and *cis*-terconazole. *Experimental conditions*: 64.5/56 cm, 50 μ m id fused-silica capillary, 0.1 M sodium phosphate, pH 3.0, 30 kV, 15 °C, 200 nm. Reproduced from [24] with permission.

produced by Sinorhizobium meliloti [31]. The linear saccharides differ in the degree of succinylation. While no enantioseparation was observed in the presence of the derivative without a succinyl substituent, derivatives with 1 or 2 succinyl groups effectively separated the enantiomers of catechin. In ¹³C NMR measurements splitting of signals of catechin was observed in the presence of all studied succinoglycans indicating that chiral recognition occurs with all saccharides. However, as the peak splitting was more pronounced for succinyl substituted derivatives the authors concluded that the succinyl groups could be involved in the recognition or discrimination in the enantioseparation of catechin. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy was also employed to explain the chiral recognition ability of amylose towards several basic analytes and ibuprofen [32]. All test compounds were resolved in neutral to acidic background electrolytes containing 1.5% amylose. While the separation of some analytes could be explained by inclusion into the cavities formed by the helical structures of amylose the molecular size of other compounds appeared to be too large for inclusion. Upon increasing the temperature in order to destroy the helical structures of amylose the enantioseparation of the smaller compounds deteriorated while the temperature did not affect the resolution of the larger molecules. NMR measurements indicated signal splitting, i.e. chiral recognition, at low temperatures for the small-sized molecules which disappeared at higher temperatures. Recognition did not change with temperature in case of the larger molecules. A similar effect was observed upon addition of iodine which apparently competed with the smaller molecules for inclusion into the cavities. Thus, chiral recognition of amylose exists even in the

absence of helical structures. Consequently, the authors distinguished between a helical-dependent and an ahelical-dependent recognition mechanism.

Besides studies on carbohydrate-derived chiral selectors, the interaction between 1,1'-binaphthyl-2,2'-diylhydrogenphosphate (BNDHP) and chiral micelles has been studied by NMR. The group of Morris investigated molecular micelles containing chiral dipeptide headgroups such as poly(sodium N-undecanoyl-L-leucylleucinate) [33]. Nuclear Overhauser enhancement spectroscopy (NOESY) revealed that the N-terminal amino acid of the dipeptide headgroup was the preferred site of chiral recognition. The H3/H3' and H4/H4' protons of BNDHP interacted strongly with the amino acid moiety while the H6/H6' and H7/H7' protons primarily interacted with the hydrocarbon side chain. Pulsed field gradient NMR diffusion measurements showed that differences in the free energies of binding of the BNDHP enantiomers correlated with the chiral selectivities observed in MEKC in the presence of the molecular micelles. In ³¹P NMR experiments of the PNDHP enantiomers in the presence of sodium cholate above the critical micelle concentration a larger upfield shift was observed for the S-enantiomer which correlates with the longer residence times of the S-enantiomer in the micelles found in MEKC [34]. Mobilities of the BNDHP enantiomers in MEKC as a function of the sodium cholate concentration in the background electrolyte were in agreement with the chemical shifts of the ³¹P NMR signals. In ¹H NMR experiments the H5/H5' and H7/H7' protons of BNDHP displayed the largest shifts indicating that this part of the molecule interacts primarily with the cholate micelles.

Nagata et al. concluded from a X-ray analysis of single crystals of the chiral crown ether (+)-(18-crown-6)-2,3,11,12-tetracarboxylic acid ((+)-18C6H4) with glycine, methylamine, ammonium and H_3O^+ on the conformation of (+)-18C6H4 as selector in chiral separations [35]. In the complex with glycine (+)-18C6H4 exhibited an asymmetric C1-type conformation forming a bowl-like shape with the N–H and C_{α} –H protons of the amino acid interacting with the oxygen atoms as well as the carboxylate groups of the ring system (Fig. 3A). Complexation of ammonium or methylamine resulted in symmetrical conformations of the crown ether (Fig. 3B). The authors concluded that the asymmetric C1-type conformation is required for chiral separation of racemic amino acids and amines. They suggested a conformational sequence of successive rotations in the macrocyle that results in the formation of the asymmetric structure necessary for enantiorecognition of analytes. Interestingly, an asymmetric complex was also formed in the presence of protons. As EKC separations using (+)-18C6H4 as chiral selector are typically performed in acidic background electrolytes the authors suggested that a pH-dependent promotive effect towards the conformational change of the crown ether exists.

2.2. Chiral CE separations combined with molecular modeling

Zhang et al. used a set of 25 triadimenol analogs for the analysis of the chiral recognition mechanism by carboxymethyl-β-CD (CM-β-CD) [36]. Using standardized conditions of 5 mM of CM-β-CD in 30 mM sodium dihydrogen phosphate, pH 2.2, and a voltage of 20 kV at 20 °C 20 compounds could be resolved. Subsequent molecular docking performed for each compound and CM-B-CD indicated that a hydrophobic interaction and two hydrogen bonds were involved in the interaction between the CD and the triadimenol enantiomers. A mathematical model was constructed correlating the interaction energies of the molecular docking calculations and the resolution found in the EKC enantioseparations. The model could be used to predict the chiral separation of a triadimenol analog. Parametric Method 3 semiempirical molecular orbital calculations have also been used to rationalize the CE enantioseparations of salsolinol, N-methyl-salsolinol, and 1-benzyltetrahydroisoquinoline by β -CD [37]. The stabiliza-



Fig. 3. Molecular conformation and interactions between (+)-18C6H4 and (A) glycine and (B) ammonia. The guest molecule is drawn with open bonds, the dotted lines represent hydrogen bonds. Adapted from [35] with permission.

tion energies of the inclusion complexes correlated with the enantiomer migration order observed in CE. Molecular modeling studies were also applied to understand the interaction between cathecin enantiomers and mono-succinyl- β -CD [38], between aminoglutethimide and methyl- β -CD [39], and the enantioseparations of modafinil [40] and ofloxacin as well as ornidazole [41] by sulfated β -CD, as well as the separation of the enantiomers of primaquine and quinocide in the presence of α -CD, β -CD or (+)-18C6H4 [42].

Multivariate image analysis-quantitative structure property relationship (MIA-QSPR) modeling has been applied to predict the enantiomer migration order of aromatic amino acids and amino acid esters using (+)-18C6H4 as chiral selector in a Triscitric acid buffer, pH 4.0 [43]. The MIA descriptors as pixels obtained from images of the structures of the compounds were correlated to the migration time of the compounds reported in the literature by partial least squares analysis. Good correlation between predicted and experimental migration times was achieved with the L-stereoisomers always migrating faster than the respective D-enantiomers. The model could be cross validated by leave-out-samples. The authors concluded that the MIA-QSPR method included physicochemical information related to the spatial arrangement of the molecules.

2.3. Migration models

Two different mechanisms contribute on a macroscopic level to enantioseparations using a chiral selector in CE, a chromatographic and an electrophoretic principle as also discussed in many review papers such as [13,25,26,44,45]. According to the fundamental equation introduced by Wren and Rowe [46], the effective mobility of an analyte, μ^{eff} , interacting with a chiral selector is a function of the mobility of the free analyte, μ_{f} , the (limiting) mobility of the analyte–selector complex, μ^{cplx} , the complexation constant, *K* (also referred to as binding constant or distribution constant), and the concentration of the chiral selector, c_{CS} , as described by:

$$\mu^{\text{eff}} = \frac{\mu_{\text{f}} + \mu^{\text{cplx}} K c_{\text{cs}}}{1 + K c_{\text{cs}}} \tag{1}$$

An enantioseparation is observed when the effective mobilities of the enantiomers differ, i.e. $\Delta \mu = \mu_1^{\text{eff}} - \mu_2^{\text{eff}}$. The chromatographic enantioselective mechanism (also referred to as the thermodynamic mechanism) is the result of different affinities of the enantiomers towards the chiral selector, i.e. $K_1 \neq K_2$. The electrophoretic enantioselective mechanism is due to differences in the limiting mobilities of the enantiomer–selector complexes, i.e. $\mu_1^{\text{cplx}} \neq \mu_2^{\text{cplx}}$, caused by differences in the hydrodynamic radii of the complexes. Both mechanisms can contribute simultaneously but the chromatographic mechanism is typically the predominant mechanism because the hydrodynamic radii of the two enantiomer–selector complexes do not differ significantly and the effective charges of the two complexes are identical. An exception is the occurrence of a complexation induced pK_a shift which can lead to different charge densities of the complexes at a given pH of the background electrolyte [47].

Dubsky et al. have used a theoretical model to explain the often observed superior enantioseparation selectivity of randomly substituted CDs compared to single isomer CDs [48] based on a model derived from an earlier publication on the enantioseparation using multiple chiral selectors [49]. The randomly substituted CD is treated as a mixture of a (large) number of defined chiral selectors with different substitution patterns. In such a system the effective mobility can be described by an equation formally identical to the equation used for a single selector system, i.e.:

$$\mu_i^{\text{eff}} = \frac{\mu_{\text{f}} + \mu_i^{\text{over}} K_i^{\text{over}} c_{\text{cs}}^{\text{tot}}}{1 + K^{\text{over}} c_{\text{cs}}^{\text{tot}}}$$
(2)

where μ_f is the mobility of the free analyte, c_{cs}^{tot} is the total concentration of the mixture of chiral selectors, i.e. the CDs with different substitution patterns. K_i^{over} and μ_i^{over} are the overall (apparent) complexation constants and the overall (apparent) limiting mobilities of the complexes, respectively. K_i^{over} is defined by:

$$K_i^{\text{over}} = \sum_q \chi^q K_i^q \tag{3}$$

where χ^q is the molar fraction of the *q*th CD substitution isomer in the mixture and K_i^q the individual apparent complexation constants of the analyte with the *q*th CD isomer. Thus, the overall complexation constant of a multiple isomer CD system is the weighted sum of all individual constants with the mol fractions of the individual CDs as the weights. μ_i^{over} is given by:

$$\mu_i^{\text{over}} = \frac{\sum_q \chi^q K_i^q \mu_i^q}{K_i^{\text{over}}} \tag{4}$$

Eq. (4) illustrates that the overall limiting mobility of an enantiomer interacting with a mixture of CD isomers is no longer an independent physico-chemical (electrophoretic) property but depends on the distribution of the enantiomer between chiral and achiral environments represented by the complexation constants K_i^{over} . Thus, μ_i^{over} becomes an apparent parameter influenced by both, the chromatographic and electrophoretic mechanisms. Consequently, the overall limiting mobilities of two enantiomers, μ_1^{over} and μ_2^{over} , may substantially differ even if resulting from otherwise essentially equal individual mobilities for every *q*th CD in the isomer mixture, i.e. $\mu_1^q = \mu_2^q$. Thus, even if enantiomers are separated solely on the chromatographic basis using one or another single isomer CD of the mixture an additional electrophoretic separation mechanism may appear if the two CDs are combined. This is even more likely when a mixture of many individual CD isomers is used as it is the case in randomly substituted CDs. The validity of the theory was demonstrated by comparing the enantioseparation of lorazepam using randomly substituted highly sulfated β -CD (S- β -CD) and the single isomer heptakis(6-O-sulfo)- β -CD (HS- β -CD). Essentially equal limiting mobilities of the enantiomers of μ_i^{over} of $-25.0\pm 0.8\times 10^{-9}\,V\,m^2\,s^{-1}\,$ and $\,-25.5\pm 0.8\times 10^{-9}\,V\,m^2\,s^{-1}\,$ were found for HS-B-CD while substantially differing mobilities of $-7.9 \pm 0.9 \times 10^{-9}$ V m² s⁻¹ and $-22.8 \pm 0.3 \times 10^{-9}$ V m² s⁻¹ were determined in the case of S- β -CD as a mixture of many CD isomers. The affinity of HS-β-CD towards the enantiomers of lorazepam was about 4-fold higher compared to S-β-CD based on the complexation constants but the chromatographic selectivity expressed as the ratio of the complexation constants was similar for both systems, 1.29 for HS- β -CD and 1.33 in the case of S- β -CD.

Based on the selectivity model developed by Vigh and coworkers [50] for weak bases and neutral chiral selectors a mathematical approach was undertaken in an attempt to rationalize the pH- and selector concentration-dependent reversal of the enantiomer migration order in EKC [51,52]. Although deduced for weak bases and neutral chiral selectors the mathematical approach can be easily transferred to acids or charged selectors by minor modifications of the model. Considering the protonation equilibria of the free base and the analyte–selector complex as well as the complexation equilibria between the protonated and neutral species of the analyte with the selector such as a CD the effective mobility of an analyte, μ_{eff} , can be described by Eq. (5):

$$\mu_{\rm eff} = \frac{\mu_{\rm HB^+} + \mu_{\rm HB^+CD}K_+[\rm CD]}{1 + K_+[\rm CD]} \frac{1}{1 + 10^{\rm pH-(pK_a+\log(1+K_+[\rm CD])/(1+K_n[\rm CD]))}}$$
(5)

which expresses μ_{eff} as a function the CD concentration, [CD], the pH of the background electrolyte, the pK_a value of the analyte, the binding constants of the protonated and neutral species, K_{+} and K_{n} , and the mobilities of the protonated free species and the corresponding complex, μ_{HB^+} and $\mu_{\text{HB}^+\text{CD}}$, respectively.

Considering the separation selectivity, *S*, described by:

$$S = \frac{\mu_{\text{eff1}}}{\mu_{\text{eff2}}} \tag{6}$$

an enantioseparation can only be observed for $\mu_{eff1} \neq \mu_{eff2}$. According to Eq. (5) this can be achieved when the enantiomers differ in the binding constants of the protonated form $(K_{+1} \neq K_{+2})$, the neutral form $(K_{n1} \neq K_{n2})$ and/or the mobilities of the two enantiomer–CD complexes ($\mu_{HB^+CD1} \neq \mu_{HB^+CD2}$). Equations describing the effective analyte mobility at fixed CD concentration or pH were described as were equations for the pK_a of the analyte-CD complex as a function of the complexation constants of the charged and electroneutral forms of the analyte. For a systematic classification with regard to the enantiomer migration order the constellation of the operator-dependent parameters, selector concentration and buffer pH, in relation to the pK_a of the analyte were considered. In a 3D plot of the selectivity as a function of [CD] and pH the 4 corner points referred to low/high [CD] and low/high pH. In the mathematical treatment "low" pH was defined with regard to the analyte pK_a as a pH where the analyte is fully protonated while "high" pH as a pH where only the deprotonated state of the analyte exists (Fig. 4). "High" [CD] is treated as an infinite selector concentration and "low" [CD] as an infinitesimal selector concentration. In each corner point the selectivity can be described as a function of the complexation equilibria between the charged and electroneutral species of the base and the selector as well as



pH low, [CD] low [CD] → pH low, [CD] high HB⁺, HB·CD⁺ HB·CD⁺

Fig. 4. Schematic representation of a 3D contour plot illustrating the low/high pH and low/high [CD] situation at the respective corner points.

the mobility of the free analyte and the limiting mobility of the analyte–selector complex. Depending on the scenario, only one or several of these factors affected the selectivity. Subsequently, with constant pH or [CD] information of the selectivity (and with it the enantiomer migration order) parallel to the edges of the surface plot can be obtained. Thus, knowing the selectivity in the corner points one can conclude if a selectivity change occurs along the plot upon changing either pH or [CD].

At the corner point low pH and high [CD] essentially only the protonated forms of the analyte enantiomrs exist so that S depends only on the complex mobilities. At the vertex low pH and low [CD] the free and complexed protonated forms coexist. Consequently, complex mobilities and binding constants of the protonated analytes affect S. At high pH and high [CD] (vertex 3) the protonated and neutral forms of the analytes coexist and are essentially complexed so that the selectivity is a function of complex mobilities as well as the binding constants of the protonated and neutral species. Finally, at the vertex high pH, low [CD] S depends on the ratio of the affinity constants of the protonated analyte, $K_{\pm 1}/K_{\pm 2}$, relative to the ratio of binding constants of the neutral species, K_{n1}/K_{n2} , as well as on the dimensions of the affinity constants K_+ relative to K_n . Thus, depending on the complexation constants and the mobilities of the enantiomer-CD complexes different scenarios may result. With respect to the possibilities of the selectivity at the 4 corner points of the selectivity surface plot 15 cases could be classified mathematically which are summarized in Table 1. Four basic mechanisms were identified leading to the inversion of the enantiomer migration order of a weak base in the presence of a neutral chiral selector, three in a pH-dependent manner and one as a function of the selector concentration. A pH-dependent reversal may be observed due to (1) inversion of the complex mobilities caused by an enantioselective pK_a shift, (2) inversion of the ratio of the mobilities of the analyte-selector complex and the free analyte due to a significant complexation-induced pK_a shift to a higher value and (3) opposite chiral recognition of the protonated and the effectively electroneutral forms of the analyte by the chiral selector.

The applicability of the theoretical model was demonstrated by analysis of the migration behavior of the dipeptides Ala-Phe and Asp-PheOMe using 2,6-dimethyl- β -CD (DM- β -CD) as chiral selector. While Ala-Phe displayed a pH-dependent inversion of the migration order of the enantiomers in the presence of DM- β -CD Asp-PheOMe did not. The pH independent parameters, μ_{HB^+} , μ_{HB^+CD} , K_+ and K_n as well as pK_a and $pK_{a/c}$ were determined in the pH range 1.9–4.8 and DM- β -CD concentrations between 0 and 0.135 mol/L by a three-dimensional, non-linear curve fitting. In the case of Ala-Phe a strong complexation-induced pK_a shift

Table 1

Systematic classification of the separation selectivity with regard to the enantiomer migration order as a function of pH and CD concentration, [CD], derived from the corner points of the 3D contour plot.

Case	Selectivity				EMO reversal			
	Low pH		High pH		pH-dependent		[CD]-dependent	
	High [CD]	Low [CD]	High [CD]	Low [CD]	High [CD]	Low [CD]	Low pH	High pH
I		S = 1	S<1	S<1	_	_	_	_
II		S<1	S = 1	$S \le 1$	-	-	-	-
III				S>1	-	+	_	_
IV	S = 1		S < 1	$S \le 1$	-	-	-	-
V				S>1	-	+	_	+
VI			S>1	$S \le 1$	-	_	_	+
VII				S>1	-	+	_	_
VIII		<i>S</i> ≤ 1	$S \le 1$	$S \le 1$	-	-	-	-
IX	S<1			S>1	-	+	-	+
Х			S>1	$S \le 1$	+	-	-	+
XI				S>1	+	+	-	-
XII		S>1	$S \le 1$	$S \le 1$	_	+	+	_
XIII				S>1	_	_	+	+
XIV			S>1	$S \le 1$	+	+	+	+
XV				S>1	+	-	+	-

Adapted from [51,52] with permission.

of almost one unit was identified as the reason for the observed pH-dependent reversal of the enantiomer migration order. Asp-PheOMe did not display a significant pK_a shift in the presence of DM- β -CD and, consequently, not reversal of the migration order was found.

The effect of pH on complex formation between β -CD and the enantiomers of the dipeptides Ala-Phe, Ala-Tyr and Asp-PheOMe has been investigated by CE and calorimetry in order to provide a more detailed understanding of the migration behavior of the peptides including the reversal of the enantiomer migration order [53]. The complexation and mobility parameters as well as the pK_a values of Ala-Tyr, Ala-Phe and Asp-PheOMe and the respective peptide- β -CD complexes were determined by CE. The limited aqueous solubility of β -CD prevented the use of extremely high concentrations of the selector even when adding urea as solubilizer to the background electrolyte so that the data were somewhat error prone preventing the unequivocal assignment of the mechanism underlying the pHdependent reversal of the enantiomer migration order. Most likely the separation behavior of Ala-Phe and Asp-PheOMe was due to inversion of the complex mobility ratio caused by enantioselective complexation-induced pK_a -shifts while in the case of Ala-Tyr the reversal was attributed to either an enantioselective complexationinduced pK_a -shift or opposite chiral recognition of the protonated and effectively electroneutral species by the chiral selector. Complexation constants were also determined by calorimetry. As in CE stronger complex formation between β -CD and the DDenantiomers of the peptides compared to the LL-stereoisomers was observed and complexation constants of the protonated species exceeded complexation constants of the neutral analytes. The thermodynamic parameters of complexation were affected by both, the configuration of stereoisomers and the pH. Compared to β-CD complexes of the LL-enantiomers, inclusion complexes of the DD-isomers were more entropy stabilized exhibiting less negative enthalpy values.

Mofaddel et al. described a simple model for the enantioseparation of binaphthol and its monoderivatives by CDs [54]. Binaphthol contains two weakly acidic functions so that complexation of three differently ionized binaphthol species and their respective binding constants with the CDs had to be considered. The apparent complexation constants and complex mobilities were determined. Using γ -CD as chiral selector, reversal of the migration order of binaphthol as a function of the CD concentration was observed at pH 10.8. Analysis of the complexation constants and complex mobilities revealed a difference in the limiting apparent mobilities of the binaphthol- γ -CD complexes as well as differences in the strength of the binding of the binaphthol enantiomers. The stronger complexed S-enantiomer also revealed the higher limiting complex mobility. This causes the reversal of the migration order when increasing the concentration of γ -CD at pH 10.8. The authors did not provide a further explanation for this phenomenon. However, due to the fact that pH 10.8 is close to the second dissociation equilibrium of binaphthol it can be concluded that the reversal is due to a complexation induced pK_a shift (either stereoselective or non-stereoselective) based on the mechanistic study described above [51].

3. Capillary electrophoresis in stereoisomer analysis

Within the electromigration techniques CE as well as capillary electrochromatography (CEC) has been applied to drug analysis in pharmaceuticals or biological media. However, in the period of time covered by the present review only application studies by CE have been published. The literature on CEC covered specifically the development and testing of chiral stationary phases but no applications for solving "real" pharmaceutical problems could be found. For recent reviews on chiral stationary CEC phases the reader is referred to [55–58].

CE enantioseparations of drugs can be divided into four major categories: (1) enantioseparations of racemic compounds in studies in order to investigate the separation ability of a new chiral selector or a class of selectors. In these studies, the drugs serve rather as model compounds in contrast to "true" pharmaceutical or biomedical applications. These will not be the focus of this review except in the case of fundamental studies described above. The other categories considered here are (2) separations of (non-)racemic mixtures of enantiomers for assay development and the determination of the enantiomeric purity of compounds, (3) chiral separations of drugs in pharmaceutical preparations and products, and (4) enantioseparations of drugs and metabolites in biological matrices or upon in vitro incubation with metabolizing enzymes. The reader is also referred to earlier general reviews on chiral electromigration techniques [11–15] and chiral drug analysis [2-4] as well as monographs on chiral CE [16] or on pharmaceutical CE analysis in general [17]. Other recent reviews cover specific aspects such as chiral CE-MS [59] or CE for chiral analysis of drugs, metabolites and biomarkers in biological samples [5]. MEEKC has been discussed by Ryan et al. [60]. CE in drug impurity analysis has been summarized in [61].

With regard to the frequency of the application CDs are by far the most "popular" chiral selectors due to their structural diversity and commercial availability. Reviews on CDs in EKC analysis can be found in [45,62–66]. Factors affecting CD-mediated chiral separations have been discussed in a book chapter [67]. Moreover, a summary of glycopeptides and macrocyclic antibiotics as selectors has been published [2].

3.1. Pharmaceutical analysis

Recent examples covering the chiral analysis of drugs in synthetic laboratory samples, bulk drug or pharmaceutical formulations have been compiled in Table 2. All methods employed direct enantioseparation in the presence of a chiral selector except for one example of indirect enantioseparation in case of the analysis of L-tyrosine in an oral solution where derivatization with R(-)-4-(3-isothiocyanatopyrrolidin-1-yl)-7-(N,N-dimethylaminosulfonyl)-2,1,3-benzoxadiazole was used [68]. A number of studies were performed on racemic drugs in their formulations where a chiral assay is not necessarily required, while "true" applications covered either the determination of the enantiomeric purity of chiral compounds in laboratory samples, bulk drug or drug formulations or the simultaneous analysis of enantiomeric impurities as well as related substances.

The separation of clopidogrel from impurities stated by the United States Pharmacopeia, i.e. the R-enantiomer, the carboxylic acid and the positional isomer, was investigated by Fayed et al. [69]. An initial screening of the experimental conditions was performed including buffer type, pH and concentration, cyclodextrin type and concentration as well applied voltage and temperature. The method was further optimized employing a reduced central composite face-centered design comprising buffer pH, buffer concentration, concentration of sulfated β -CD as chiral selector and applied voltage as variables. Resolution between clopidogrel and the first and last migrating enantiomer of the positional isomer, respectively, and total analysis time were selected as responses. However, the optimum conditions predicted by the software resulted in extremely high currents and an unstable baseline. Subsequently, the model was rebuilt including current as a response. As final conditions, a 10 mM phosphate buffer, pH 2.3, containing 5% sulfated β -CD and an applied voltage of -12 kV were selected. Robustness of the method was investigated using a reduced composite facecentered design as well. The method was validated and applied to the analysis of bulk drug. Besides the impurities listed by the United States Pharmacopeia two additional unknown impurities could be detected.

A dual CD system was employed for the impurity profiling of dexamphetamine sulfate [70]. Charged as well as uncharged impurities were considered due to the possible preparation of the drug via several synthetic pathways using chiral (charged) or achiral (uncharged) starting materials. From a screening of CDs using a 50 mM phosphate buffer, pH 2.5, sulfated β -CD and sulfobutylether- β -CD (SBE- β -CD) were identified as chiral selectors for the separation of the enantiomers of amphetamine. In the presence of 20 mg/mL sulfated β -CD providing a resolution of amphetamine of $R_S > 3$ the neutral impurities phenylacetone and phenylacetone oxime could not be detected within 60 min. Broad peaks or peak splitting was observed in the presence of SBE-B-CD below a concentration of 70 mg/mL. At higher concentrations insufficient resolution of the amphetamine enantiomers was still observed. Thus, a combination of both CDs was applied. The final conditions comprised a $50\,\mu m$ id fused-silica capillary with an effective length of 35 cm, a background electrolyte consisting of 50 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 3.0 containing 80 mg/mL SBE- β -CD and 25 mg/mL sulfated β -CD and an applied voltage of -10 kV. During method development it was noted that the substi-



Fig. 5. Electropherogram of a commercial sample of dexamphetamine sulfate analyzed at a concentration of 5 mg/mL. *Experimental conditions*: 40.2/35 cm, 50 μ m id fused-silica capillary, 50 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 3.0, containing 80 mg/mL SBE- β -CD and 25 mg/mL sulfated β -CD, -10 kV, 20 °C, 200 nm. 1, phenylacetone Z-oxime; 2, phenylacetone E-oxime; 3, phenylacetone; 4, dexamphetamine; 5, levoamphetamine; 6, 15,25-(+)-norpseudoephedrine; 7, 1R,25-(-)-norephedrine; 8, 1R-2S-(-)-ephedrine.

Reproduced from [70] with permission.

tution degree of the randomly substituted SBE-β-CD could affect the resolution and peak shape of the analytes. However, this could be always fixed by minor adjustments of the CD concentration. The method was validated with a batch of SBE- β -CD with a degree of substitution of 4.9 using 1R,2S-(-)-ephedrine as internal standard. The LOQ of all impurities corresponded to 0.05% based on a concentration of dexamphetamine sulfate of 5 mg/mL. Subsequent analysis of several batches of commercial dexamphetamine sulfate revealed the presence of about 3-4% levoamphetamine as well as phenylacetone and phenylacetone oxime at the LOD level (Fig. 5). In contrast, charged impurities such as norephedrine or norpseudoephedrine could not be detected leading to the conclusion that the investigated samples were synthesized from phenylacetone via the oxime yielding racemic amphetamine which was resolved by fractional crystallization. A subsequently developed CD-modified MEEKC method was able to separate all charged and uncharged impurities as well but proved to be less sensitive than the dual CD system [71]. Interestingly, it was noted in this study that the order of the preparation of the microemulsion affected the resolution between some compounds. Thus, it may be necessary to validate the preparation procedure of the microemulsion as well in order to obtain reproducible MEEKC methods.

Borst and Holzgrabe undertook a systematic study for the establishment of a chiral CD-modified MEEKC method for phenethylamines including ephedrine, norephedrine, N-methylephedrine, epinephrine and further structurally related compounds [72]. The oil-in-water microemulsion consisted of 0.5% ethyl acetate as oil phase, 1.0% SDS as surfactant, 4.0% 1-butanol as cosurfactant, 3.0% 2-propanol as organic modifier, 91.5% 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 2.5, as aqueous phase, and 4.0% sulfated β -CD was the chiral selector. Except for dipivefrine and 2-(butylamino)-1phenyl-1-propanol all analytes could be baseline resolved using an applied voltage of -15 kV. The method was validated and the robustness with regard to buffer pH and concentration was assessed. For the simultaneous separation of compounds that are specified as impurities for a certain drug in the European Pharmacopoeia the CD concentration had to be adjusted as shown in Fig. 6 for ephedrine and pseudoephedrine. LODs of the impurities of at least 0.1% were achieved allowing the analysis of the compounds according to the limits of the European Pharmacopoeia.

1S,2R-(+)-ephedrine and 1R,2S-(-)-norephedrine as impurities in pharmaceutical formulations of 1R,2S-(-)-ephedrine have been analyzed using carboxyethyl-β-CD (CE-β-CD) as chiral selector in a

Table 2

Recent examples of drug purity determination by electromigration techniques.

Drug	Chiral selector (concentration)	Background electrolyte	LOD/comment	Ref.
Aliphatic amines	(+)-18C6H4 (5–15 mM) DM-β-CD (5–15 mM)	10 mM citric acid/aspartic acid, pH 2.2	4.2–9.4 µg/mL indirect UV detection, 0.2–0.3 mg/mL CCD, determination of enantiomeric	[76]
Aminoglutethimide	$M-\beta$ -CD (30 mg/mL)	50 mM Tris/phosphoric acid,	purity 2.20–2.13 μ g/mL, analysis of	[39]
Amlodipine	HP- β -CD (50 mg/mL)	50 mM glycine/acetate, pH 3.2,	2.42–3.53 μ g/mL, analysis of	[77]
Amphetamine, methamphetamine, 3,4-	HP-β-CD (30 mM)	25 mM sodium acetate/75 mM acetic acid, pH 4.55	0.46–1.8µg/mL, analysis of illicit tablets	[78]
Baclofen	α -CD (18 mM)	0.1 M sodium borate, pH 9.9, 1% acetonitrile	2–10 µg/mL, analysis of racemic hulk drug and tablets	[79]
Benzimidazole derivatives	Sulfated β-CD (3.5%) HS-β-CD (3.5%) HS-α-CD (4%)	25 mM triethalamine/phosphoric acid,	0.7–1.0%, analysis of synthetic laboratory samples	[80]
Carnitine, Fmoc derivatized	Succ- γ -CD (10 mM)	0.5 M ammonium formate, pH	0.002%, MS detection, analysis	[81,82]
Cefotaxime	$CM-\beta-CD(0.5 \text{ mM})$	75 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7 0	$0.4-0.5 \mu\text{g/mL}$, analysis of injection formulations	[83]
Clopidogrel	Sulfated β -CD (5%)	10 mM triethylamine/phosphoric acid	$0.08-0.33 \mu g/mL$, minor enantiomer and related substances	[69]
Dexamphetamine	HDAS- β -CD (10 mg/mL)	0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 2.5	0.06%, minor enantiomer and charged related substances	[84]
Dexamphetamine	Sulfated β-CD (25 mg/mL), SBE-β-CD (80 mg/mL)	50 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 2.5	0.01–0.02%, minor enantiomer and related substances	[70]
Dexamphetamine	Sulfated β -CD (5.5%)	1.5% SDS, 0.5% ethyl acetate, 3.5% 1-butanol, 2.5% 2-propanol and 92% 50 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 3.0	0.05–0.2%, minor enantiomer and related substances	[71]
Econazole	HΡ-γ-CD (40 mM)	50 mM SDS in 20 mM phosphate buffer, pH 8.0	3.6–4.3 μg/mL, analysis of racemic drug, SPE extraction from cream	[85]
Epinephrine, norepinephrine	CE-β-CD (10 mM)	100 mM Tris/phosphoric acid, pH 5.0	0.8–1.0 μg/mL, stereoisomeric purity of L-epinephrine in formulations	[73]
Growth hormone analogue JMV 1843	HS-γ-CD (5%)	50 mM phosphate buffer, pH 2.5	Poly(diallyldimethylammonium)- coated capillary, analysis of synthetic samples	[86]
Ibuprofen	TM-β-CD (35 mM)	5 mM sodium acetate, 2.63 mM acetic acid, pH 5.0, 1.5 mM <i>N</i> -undecenoxy-carbonyl-L- leucinol bromide	LOD not given, analysis of racemic drug in tablet	[87]
Lansoprazole	β -CD (12 mM)	50 mM sodium phosphate, pH 2.2, 5 mM sodium sulfite	0.64–0.72 mg/L, analysis of racemic drug	[88]
Levocetirizine	Sulfated β -CD (5 mg/mL)	25 mmol/L MES/&-aminocaproic acid, pH 5.3. 0.1% hydroxyethylcellulose	1.7–1.9 μg/mL, analysis of tablets	[89]
Levothyroxine	CuSO ₄ (0.05 mM) L-proline (0.4 mM)	18 mM borate buffer, pH 9.6, 10% ACN	$0.35\mu\text{g}/\text{mL}$ analysis of tablets	[74]
Modafinil	Sulfated β -CD (30 mg/mL)	25 mM Tris/phosphoric acid, pH 8.0	1.89–1.07 μg/mL, analysis of racemic drug in tablet	[90]
Ofloxacin and ornidazole	Sulfated β -CD (30 mg/mL)	50 mM Tris/phosphoric acid, pH 1.85	0.46–0.89 µg/mL, racemic drug in injection formulation	[40]
Oxybutinin	HP-β-CD (18 mM)	1.7% n-heptane, 9.2% SDS/n-butanol (1:2), 89.1% 10 mM sodium borate, pH 9.2	$3-12 \ \mu g/mL$, analysis of related substances in tablet	[41]
Phenethylamine drugs	Sulfated β -CD (4–8%)	0.5% ethyl acetate, 1.0% SDS, 4.0% 1-butanol, 3.0% propan-2-ol 91.5% 20 mM phosphate buffer pH 2.5	0.06–0.1%, minor enantiomer and related substances	[72]
Pheniramine	$HP\text{-}\beta\text{-}CD(30mM)$	50 mM sodium phosphate, pH 3.0	3.3 μM, analysis of racemic drug in eve drops	[91]
Pregabalin, tosyl or dansyl derivatized	$PA-\beta-CD$ (3.4 mM)	100 mM sodium phosphate, pH 6.8	0.1%, determination of enantiomeric purity	[29]
Raltitrexed	CM-β-CD (8 mM)	75 mM Tris/phosphoric acid, pH 8.0, 30 mM SDS	0.1 µg/mL, analysis of synthetic laboratory sample	[92]
Sibutramine	$M-\beta-CD(5 mM)$	10 mM sodium citrate/20 mM sodium phosphate, pH 4.3	Analysis of racemic drug in formulation	[93]
Tenofovir and related nucleoside phosphonates	β -CD (20 mg/mL)	30–50 mM sodium borate, pH 10–10.5	0.51–1.36 μM, enantiomeric purity of laboratory samples	[94]
DL-Tetrahydropalmitine	BSA (50 μ M)	20 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.4	6–7 ng/mL, analysis of plant extract	[95]

Table 2 (Continued)

Drug	Chiral selector (concentration)	Background electrolyte	LOD/comment	Ref.
Tic-hydantoin derivatives	HS-β-CD (10 mM)	50 mM sodium phosphate, pH 2.5, 5% ethanol	0.90–1.31 μM, determination of enantiomeric purity, comparison to HPLC	[96]
Tyrosine	-	15 mM sodium borate, pH 10.5	2.2–2.9 μM, derivatization with DBD-PyNCS, analysis of amino acid formulation	[68]
Zopiclone	β-CD (20 mM)	60.2 mM phosphate buffer, pH 2.0, 1 M urea	2.1–7.2 µg/mL, analysis of racemic drug in tablet	[97]

PA- β -CD, 6-monodeoxy-6-mono-(3-hydroxy)-propylamino- β -CD; CE- β -CD, carboxyethyl- β -CD; CM- β -CD, carboxymethyl- β -CD; M- β -CD, methyl- β -CD; HS- β -CD, highly sulfated γ -CD; HP- β -CD, hydroxypropyl- β -CD; HDAS- β -CD, heptakis(2,3-di-O-acetyl- β -O-sulfo)- β -CD; Succ- β -CD, succinyl- β -CD; SBE- β -CD, sulfobutylether- β -CD; HP- γ -CD, hydroxypropyl- γ -CD; PA- β -CD, 6-monodeoxy-6-mono-(3-hydroxy)-propylamino- β -CD; (-)-18C6H4, (-)-(18-crown-6)-2,3,11,12-tetracarboxylic acid; CCD, contactless conductivity detection; DBD-PyNCS, *R*(-)-4-(3-isothiocyanatopyrrolidin-1-yl)-7-(*N*,*N*-dimethylaminosulfonyl)-2,1,3-benzoxadiazole; MES, morpholinoethanesulfonic acid.

0.1 M Tris-phosphate buffer, pH 5.0 [73]. Only 1S,2R-(+)-ephedrine could be detected in the ampoules while both impurities were found in the injection. Moreover, when applying the method to the quantitative determination of 1R,2S-(-)-ephedrine significant differences between the labeled content and the determined quantities were noted.

A chiral ligand-exchange method using the Cu(II)/L-proline complex as chiral selector for the enantioseparation of levothyroxine has been developed and validated [74]. The background electrolyte was optimized regarding the concentration and composition of the chiral selector, the organic modifier and the pH. The final conditions employed a 15 mM borate buffer, pH 9.6 containing 0.05 mM copper(II)sulfate and 0.4 mM L-proline as well as 10% acetonitrile. Using UV detection the method proved to be suitable for the analysis of commercial levothyroxine tablets (Fig. 7). The drug contained two minor impurities one of which could be ascribed to dextrothyroxine. In addition, hyphenation to ICP-MS was performed with reduction of the borate concentration of the background electrolyte to 10 mM. Using L-triiodothyronine



Fig. 6. Dependence of the enantioseparations of ephedrine and pseudoephedrine on the concentration of sulfated β -CD in CD-modified MEEKC. Experimental conditions: 50.2/40 cm, $50 \,\mu\text{m}$ id fused-silica capillary; 0.5% ethyl acetate, 1.0% SDS, 4.0% 1-butanol, 3.0% 2-propanol, 91.5% 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 2.5; $-15 \,\text{kV}$, $20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$, 200 nm.

Reproduced from [72] with permission.



Fig. 7. Electropherogram of (top) a commercial levothyroxine tablet and (bottom) a standard solution of levothyroxine (L-T4) and the enantiomer (D-T4). *Experimental conditions*: 15 mM sodium borate buffer, pH 9.6, containing 10% acetonitrile, 0.05 mM copper(II)sulfate and 0.4 mM L-proline, 15 kV, 25 °C, 226 nm. Reproduced from [74] with permission.

as internal standard satisfactory reproducibility of the assay was achieved although the resolution of the thyronine enantiomers was lower compared to the CE-UV method.

Although direct application to pharmaceutical analysis was not the topic, Kojtari and Foley investigated the effect of the purity of the chiral detergent N-dodecoxycarbonylvaline (DDCV) as microemulsion component in chiral MEEKC analysis of the ephedrine enantiomers [75]. Either R- or S-DDCV or non-racemic mixtures of the detergent were used. As expected, the enantioresolution of ephedrine decreased with the decreasing enantiomeric excess of the chiral surfactant emphasizing the importance of pure reagents for reproducible analyses.

3.2. Biomedical analysis

Recent examples of bioanalytical studies are summarized in Table 3. These include the analysis of plasma or urine for the determination of the stereoselective metabolism and pharmacokinetics of a drug and the investigation of the in vitro metabolism by liver microsomes or fungi as model organisms.

The stereoselective metabolism of ibuprofen in healthy volunteers with CYP2C8 and CYP2C9 polymorphism has been studied [98]. The enantiomers of ibuprofen and the 2-hydroxy and 2-carboxy metabolites were separated using a 0.2 M triethanolamine/phosphoric acid buffer, pH 5, containing 50 mM 2,3,6-trimethyl- β -CD. In accordance with the unidirectional inversion of R-ibuprofen to S-ibuprofen, plasma levels of S-ibuprofen

Table 3

Recent examples of chiral drug bioanalysis by electromigration techniques.

Analyte	Matrix	Chiral selector (concentration)	Background electrolyte	Extraction	Application/comment	Ref.
Amphetamine, p-chloroamphetamine	Urine	(+)-18C6H4 (0.8 mM)	50 mM <i>bis</i> -Tris/citric acid, pH 4.0	SDME	Spiked urine	[102]
Anisodamine	Plasma	HP–CD (20 mg/mL), CM-β-CD (5 mg/mL)	0.11 M Tris/phosphoric acid, pH 4.0	SPE	Pharmacokinetics in rabbits	[103]
Dioxopromethazine	Urine	β-CD (16.5 mM)	25 mM Tris/phosphoric acid, 40 mM boric acid, pH 2.5	LLE	Spiked urine	[104]
Fenbendazole	-	HDAS-β-CD (10 mM), HDMS-β-CD (10 mM)	10 mM ammonium formate, 0.5 M trifluoroacetic acid in methanol	Protein precipitation by MeOH	Stereoselective metabolism by rat liver microsomes	[100]
Hydroxychloroquine	-	Sulfated β-CD (1%), HP-β-CD (30 mM)	0.1 M Tris, pH 9.0	LLE	Stereoselective metabolism by rat and mouse liver microsomes	[105]
Ibuprofen	Plasma, urine	$TM-\beta-CD$ (50 mM)	20 mM tri- ethanolamine/phosphoric acid, pH 5.0	SPE	Stereoselective metabolism in humans with CYP450 polymorphism	[98]
Ketamine	_	Sulfated β -CD (10 mg/mL)	50 mM Tris/phosphoric acid, pH 2.5	LLE	Stereoselective metabolism by human, equine and canine liver microsomes	[99]
Methamphetamine and related drugs	Urine	β-CD (12 mM), DM-β-CD (6 mM)	125 mM Tris/sodium dihydrogen phosphate, pH 6.15	LLE	PVA-coated capillary, analysis of drug addict samples	[106]
Midodrine, desglymidodrine	-	$TM-\beta-CD(30mM)$	70 mM sodium acetate, pH 5.0	LLE	Stereoselective metabolism by endophytic fungi	[101]
Mirtazapine	Urine	CM-β-CD (0.55%)	50 mM sodium phosphate, pH 2.5	SPME	Stereoselective metabolism after administration of racemic drug	[107]
Propranolol, 4-hydroxypropranolol	-	CM-β-CD (4%)	25 mM triethylamine/phosphoric acid, pH 9.0	LLE	Stereoselective metabolism by endophytic fungi	[108]

LLE, liquid-liquid extraction; SPE, solid phase extraction; SDME, single drop microextraction; SPME, solid phase microextraction; HDMS, heptakis(2,3-di-O-methyl-6-O-sulfo)-β-CD; TM-β-CD, 2,3,6-trimethyl-β-CD; DM-β-CD, 2,6-dimethyl-β-CD; (+)-18C6H4, (+)-(18-crown-6)-2,3,11,12-tetracarboxylic acid; for abbreviations of selectors see Table 2.

were always higher during the elimination process. Differences in the pharmacokinetic data such as elimination half-life and clearance depending on genotype were observed. Impaired metabolism of the ibuprofen enantiomers was associated with the presence of the CYP2C9*3 allele and the CYP2C8*1/*3 and CYP2C9*1/*3 genotype. However, pharmacokinetic profiles of ibuprofen and the metabolites also differed for subjects with no detected mutations resulting in similar profiles as found for carriers of mutated alleles.

The stereoselective in vitro metabolism of ketamine by human, equine and canine liver microsomes has been compared by Thromann and co-workers [99]. The enantiomers of ketamine and the major metabolite norketamine as well as hydroxylated norketamine metabolites and 5,6-dehydronorketamine could be resolved simultaneously in a 45/34 cm, 50 µm id fused-silica capillary using a 50 mM Tris/phosphoric acid buffer, pH 2.5, containing 10 mg/mL sulfated β -CD as background electrolyte. As the metabolites were not available except for norketamine, the assignment of the metabolite stereoisomers was achieved by separate incubation of the individual enantiomers of ketamine as well as racemic drug with equine liver microsomes. Ketamine was metabolized stereoselectively by the microsomes of all three species (Fig. 8). Moreover, the metabolites were formed to a different extent by each species. N-demethylation of the parent drug to norketamine was modeled according to the Michaelis-Menten kinetics revealing a reduced conversion of S-ketamine in the racemic drug by human microsomes compared to the administration of the pure S-enantiomer. In contrast, no difference was observed for the other species when administering racemic drug or the single enantiomer. The authors concluded that the reduced conversion can be related to a reduced hepatic clearance of the drug which could be of clinical relevance.

An application of non-aqueous CE (NACE) in biomedical analysis has been published by Rousseau et al. [100]. The in vitro metabolism of the achiral drug fenbendazole to the chiral sulfone metabolites as well as the sufoxide was studied. The compounds were separated using a dual CD system of HDMS- β -CD and HDAS- β -CD in an electrolyte solution of ammonium formate in methanol acidified with trifluoroacetic acid. The simultaneous use of both CDs proved to be essential for complete enantioresolution of the sulfone enantiomers. Initial incubations of fenbendazole with rat liver microsomes indicated a non-stereoselective sulfoxidation. In principle, the method can also be applied to CE-MS because the background electrolyte is volatile and the CDs migrate in the opposite direction to the MS.

The group of Bonato has studied the metabolism of racemic drugs such as propranolol [108] or midodrine [101] by endophytic fungi in order to evaluate these microorganisms as sources for the production of pure metabolites for pharmacological and tox-icological studies. In both cases, stereoselective formation of the respective metabolites of the drugs by the fungi was observed.

3.3. Further applications

CE has also evolved as a quick and accurate technique for the determination of interactions between molecules including protein–drug, protein–DNA, peptide–carbohydrate, peptide–peptide, DNA–dye, carbohydrate–drug, antigen–antibody, and other biological interactions. The most recent review on the determination of binding constants by affinity CE (ACE) can be found in [109]. As demonstrated by Chu et al. [110], partial-filling ACE can be employed to study the stereospecific binding of the S-configured rotigotine and its R-enantiomer to bovine and human serum albumin. The method used a 50 mM phosphate buffer, pH



Fig. 8. Comparison of metabolite formation between incubations of 50 μ.M racemic ketamine with canine liver microsomes (CLM), human liver microsomes (HLM) and equine liver microsomes (ELM). Experimental conditions: 45/34 cm, 50 μm id fused-silica capillary, 50 mM Tris/phosphoric acid, pH 2.5, –20 kV, 20 °C, 200 nm. K, ketamine; NK, norketamine; HNK, hydroxynorketamine; I–IV, different HNK metabolites. R- and S- denote the configuration of the respective analyte. Reproduced from [99] with permission.

7.4, as background electrolyte at 37 °C. The albumin concentration was varied by increasing the length of the injected plug. For both albumins significantly weaker binding of rotigotine than the R-enantiomer was found with a general higher affinity to human serum albumin. Displacement experiments with warfarin and ketoprofen indicated multiple binding sites for rotigotine and the enantiomer. The stereoselective protein binding of amlodip-ine using chiral CE as analytical method has also been studied [111].

In recent years, CE has been increasingly used in enzyme assays covering all aspects of enzyme-related analysis including the evaluation of the enzymatic activity, enzyme kinetics, identification of enzyme substrates, inhibitors and activators, or the investigation of enzyme-mediated metabolic pathways [112,113]. Chiral ligandexchange based CE assays have been reported for the determination of the enzyme kinetic constant of amino acid oxidase [114,115]. Furthermore, a stereospecific CE assay for the determination of the activity of 4-hydroxyproline-2-epimerase which is expressed in various pathogenic bacteria has been developed as a stereospecific platform for inhibitor screening [116]. The substrate and potential inhibitors were incubated with the epimerase followed by derivatization with FMOC chloride. Subsequent analyte separation was achieved in a 100 mM HEPES buffer, pH 8, containing 30 mM SDS. The D/L-ratio of proline was determined using 140 mM HEPES, pH 8, containing 30 mM taurodeoxycholate and 30 mM β-CD as background electrolyte. The Michaelis-Menten kinetics were assessed. The enzyme was inhibited by the known competitive inhibitor pyrrole-2-carboxylic acid demonstrating the feasibility of the assay for the identification of inhibitors in compound screening.

4. Conclusions and outlook

Work published in recent years has clearly documented the potential of electromigration techniques for enantioseparations. This is specifically true for chiral EKC employing a chiral selector as pseudostationary phase in a background electrolyte due to the high flexibility and enantioselectivity. Efforts have continued to rationalize chiral separation mechanisms in EKC. New areas such as inhibitor screening have also been reported recently. In contrast, CEC does not yet seem to be valid enough for implementation in routine analysis. Further methodological studies have to be performed until true applications will be presented. The general trend of further miniaturization based on chip technology [117] will also lead to their use in pharmaceutical analysis where reports on drug analysis are still scarce. If such a format can be realized for routine applications they will have a promising future potential for analytical enantioseparations.

References

- Pharmaceutical Sales 2009, http://www.drugs.com/top200.html, accessed September 12, 2010.
- [2] A.F. Prokhorova, E.N. Shapovalova, O.A. Shpigun, Chiral analysis of pharmaceuticals by capillary electrophoresis using antibiotics as chiral selectors, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 53 (2010) 1170–1179.
- [3] P.T.T. Ha, J. Hoogmartens, A. Van Schepdael, Recent advances in pharmaceutical applications of chiral capillary electrophoresis, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 41 (2006) 1–11.
- [4] U. Holzgrabe, D. Brinz, S. Kopec, C. Weber, Y. Bitar, Why not using capillary electrophoresis in drug analysis? Electrophoresis 27 (2006) 2283–2292.
- [5] P. Mikus, K. Marakova, Advanced CE for chiral analysis of drugs, metabolites and biomarkers in biological samples, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2773–2802.
- [6] J. Zhang, J. Konecny, Z. Glatz, J. Hoogmartens, A. Van Schepdael, Application of capillary electrophoresis in drug metabolism studies, Curr. Anal. Chem. 3 (2007) 197–217.
- [7] L. Suntornsuk, Recent advances of capillary electrophoresis in pharmaceutical analysis, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 398 (2010) 29–52.
- [8] L. Suntornsuk, Capillary electrophoresis in pharmaceutical analysis: a survey on recent applications, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 45 (2007) 559–577.
- [9] K. Altria, A. Marsh, C. Sänger-van de Griend, Capillary electrophoresis for the analysis of small-molecule pharmaceuticals, Electrophoresis 27 (2006) 2263–2282.
- [10] L. Geiser, J.-L. Veuthey, Nonaqueous capillary electrophoresis in pharmaceutical analysis, Electrophoresis 28 (2007) 45–57.
- [11] B. Preinstorfer, M. Lämmerhofer, W. Lindner, Advances in enantioselective separations using electromigration capillary techniques, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 100–132.
- [12] G. Gübitz, M.G. Schmid, Chiral separation by capillary electromigration techniques, J. Chromatogr. A 1204 (2008) 140–156.
- [13] B. Chankvetadze, Enantioseparations by using capillary electrophoretic technique, J. Chromatogr. A 1168 (2007) 45–70.
- [14] A. van Eeckhaut, Y. Michotte, Chiral separations by capillary electrophoresis: recent developments and applications, Electrophoresis 27 (2006) 2880–2895.
- [15] L. Sanchez-Hernandez, C. Garcia-Ruiz, M.L. Marina, A.L. Crego, Recent approaches for enhancing sensitivity in enantioseparations by CE, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 28–43.
- [16] A. van Eeckhaut, Y. Michotte (Eds.), Chiral Separations by Capillary Electrophoresis, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2010.
- [17] S. Ahuja, M.I. Jimidar (Eds.), Capillary Electrophoresis Methods for Pharmaceutical Analysis, Academic Press, Burlington, 2008, 529 pp.
- [18] M. Lämmerhofer, Chiral recognition by enantioselective liquid chromatography: mechanisms and modern chiral stationary phases, J. Chromatogr. A 1217 (2010) 814–856.
- [19] G. Uccello-Barretta, L. Vanni, F. Balzano, Nuclear magnetic resonance approaches to the rationalization of chromatographic enantiorecognition processes, J. Chromatogr. A 1217 (2010) 928–940.
- [20] A. Del Rio, Exploring enantioselective molecular recognition mechanisms with chemoinformatic techniques, J. Sep. Sci. 32 (2009) 1566–1584.
- [21] E. Hazai, I. hazai, L. Demko, S. Kovacs, D. Malik, P. Akli, P. Hari, J. Szeman, E. fenyvesi, E. Benes, L. Szente, Z. Bikadi, Cyclodextrin knowledgebase a web-based service managing CD-ligand complexation data, J. Comput. Aided Mol. Des. 24 (2010) 7163–7717.
- [22] A.-C. Servais, A. Rousseau, M. Fillet, K. Lomsadze, A. Salgado, J. Crommen, B. Chankvetadze, Capillary electrophoretic and nuclear magnetic resonance studies on the opposite affinity pattern of propranolol enantiomers towards various cyclodextrins, J. Sep. Sci. 33 (2010) 1617–1624.
- [23] A.-C. Servais, A. Rousseau, M. Fillet, K. Lomsadze, A. Salgado, J. Crommen, B. Chankvetadze, Separation of propranolol enantiomers by CE using sulfated β-CD derivatives in aqueous and non-aqueous electrolytes: comparative CE and NMR study, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1467–1474.

- [24] K. Lomasadze, A.B. Martinez-Giron, M. Castro-Puyana, L. Chankvetadze, A.L. Crego, A. Salgado, M.L. Marina, B. Chankvetadze, About the role of enantioselective selector-selectand interactions and the mobilities of diastereomeric associates in enantiomer separations in CE, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2803–2811.
- [25] B. Chankvetadze, W. Lindner, G.K.E. Scriba, Enantiomer separations in capillary electrophoresis in the case of equal binding constants of the enantiomers with a chiral selector: commentary on the feasibility of the concept, Anal. Chem. 76 (2004) 4256–4260.
- [26] B. Chankvetadze, G. Blaschke, Enantioseparations in capillary electromigration techniques: recent developments and future trends, J. Chromatogr. A 906 (2001) 309–363.
- [27] B. Jamali, I. Bjoernsdottir, C. Cornett, S. Honore Hansen, Investigation of a dual CD chiral CE system for separation of glitazone compounds, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2853–2861.
- [28] T. Šohajda, E. Varga, R. Ivanyi, I. Fejös, L. Szente, B. Noszal, S. Beni, Separation of vinca alkaloid enantiomers by capillary electrophoresis applying cyclodextrin derivatives and characterization of cyclodextrin complexes by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 53 (2010) 1258–1266.
- [29] S. Beni, T. Sohajda, G. Neumajer, R. Ivanyi, L. Szente, B. Noszal, Separation and characterization of modified pregabalins in terms of cyclodextrin complexation, using capillary electrophoresis and nuclear magnetic resonance, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 51 (2010) 842–852.
- [30] Y. Xiao, Y. Wang, T.-T. Ong, L. Ge, S.N. Tan, D.J. Young, T.T.Y. Tan, S.-C. Ng, Chiral capillary electrophoresis with cationic pyrrolidinium-β-cyclodextrin derivatives as chiral selectors, J. Sep. Sci. 33 (2010) 1797–1805.
- [31] C. Kwon, K.M. Yoo, S. Jung, Chiral separation and discrimination of catechin by sinorhizobial octasaccharides in capillary electrophoresis and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy, Carbohydr. Res. 344 (2009) 1347–1351.
- [32] W. Wei, B. Guo, J.-M. Lin, Helical- and ahelical-dependent chiral recognition mechanisms in capillary electrophoresis using amylose as the selector, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 1380–1387.
- [33] S.A. Kingsbury, C.J. Ducommun, B.M. Zahakaylo, E.H. Dickinson, K.F. Morris, NMR characterization of 1,1'-binaphthyl-2,2'-diyl hydrogen phosphate binding to chiral molecular micelles, Magn. Res. Chem. 48 (2010) 184– 191.
- [34] C.M. Hebling, L.E. Thompson, K.W. Eckenroad, G.A. Manley, R.A. Fry, K.T. Mueller, T.G. Strein, D. Rovnyak, Sodium cholate aggregation and chiral recognition of the probe molecule (R,S)-1,1'-binaphthyl-2,2'diylhydrogenphosphate (BNDHP) observed by ¹H and ³¹P NMR spectroscopy, Langmuir 24 (2008) 13866–13874.
- [35] H. Nagata, H. Nishi, M. Kamigauchi, T. Ishida, Guest-dependent conformation of 18-crown-6 tetracarboxylic acid: relation to chiral separation of racemic amino acids, Chirality 20 (2008) 820–827.
- [36] G. Zhang, Q. Sun, Y. Hou, Z. Hong, J. Zhang, L. Zhao, H. Zhang, Y. Chai, New mathematic model for predicting chiral separation using molecular docking: mechanism of chiral recognition of triadimenol analogues, J. Sep. Sci. 32 (2009) 2401–2407.
- [37] M.-J. Huang, Z. Quan, Y.-M. Liu, Computational modeling of inclusion complexes of β -cyclodextrin with enantiomers of salsolinol, N-methylsalsolinol and 1-benzyltetrahydroisoquinoline, Int. J. Quant. Chem. 109 (2009) 81–90.
- [38] H. Kim, Y. Choi, J.-I. Kim, K. Jeong, S. Jung, Molecular modeling studies on the chiral separation of (\pm)-catechins by mono-succinyl- β -cyclodextrin, Bull. Kor. Chem. Soc. 30 (2009) 1373–1375.
- [39] A.A. Elbashir, F.E.O. Suliman, B. Saad, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, Determination of aminoglutethimide enantiomers in pharmaceutical formulations by capillary electrophorsis using methylated-β-cyclodextrin as a chiral selector and computational calculation for their respective inclusion complexes, Talanta 77 (2009) 1388–1393.
- [40] K.M. Ázzam, B. Saad, R. Adnan, M.I. Saleh, Enantioselective determination of modafinil in pharmaceutical formulations by capillary electrophoresis, and computational calculation of their inclusion complexes, Microchim. Acta 166 (2009) 311–317.
- [41] K.M. Al Azzam, B. Saad, R. Adnan, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, Enantioselective analysis of ofloxacin and ornidazole in pharmaceutical formulations by capillary electrophoresis using single chiral selector and computational calculation of their inclusion complexes, Anal. Chim. Acta 674 (2010) 249–255.
- [42] A.A. Elbashir, F.E.O. Suliman, B. Saad, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, Capillary electrophoretic separation and computational modeling of inclusion complexes of β-cyclodextrin and 18-crown-6 ether with primaquine and quinocide, Biomed. Chromatogr. 24 (2010) 393–398.
- [43] M. Goodarzi, M.P. Freitas, Prediction of electrophoretic enantioseparation of aromatic amino acids/esters through MIA-QSPR, Sep. Purif. Technol. 68 (2009) 363–366.
- [44] A.M. Rizzi, Fundamental aspects of chiral separations by capillary electrophoresis, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 3079–3106.
- [45] G.K.E. Scriba, Cyclodextrins in capillary electrophoresis enantioseparations recent developments and applications, J. Sep. Sci. 31 (2008) 1991–2011.
- [46] S.A.C. Wren, R.C. Rowe, Theoretical aspects of chiral separation in capillary electrophoresis. I. Initial evaluation of a model, J. Chromatogr. A 603 (1992) 235–241.
- [47] A.M. Rizzi, L. Kremser, pK_a shift-associated effects in enantioseparations by cyclodextrin-mediated capillary zone electrophoresis, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 2715–2722.

- [48] P. Dubsky, J. Svobodova, E. Tesarova, B. Gas, Enhanced selectivity in CZE multi chiral selector enantioseparation systems: proposed separation mechanism, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1435–1441.
- [49] P. Dubsky, J. Svobodova, B. Gas, Model of CE enantioseparation systems with a mixture of chiral selectors. Part I. Theory of migration and interconversion, J. Chromatogr. B 875 (2008) 30–34.
- [50] Y.Y. Rawjee, R.L. Williams, G. Vigh, Capillary electrophoretic chiral separations using β-cyclodextrin as resolving agent II. Bases: chiral selectivity as a function of pH and the concentration of β-cyclodextrin, J. Chromatogr. A 652 (1993) 233–245.
- [51] M. Hammitzsch-Wiedemann, G.K.E. Scriba, Mathematical approach by a selectivity model for rationalization of pH- and selector concentrationdependent reversal of the enantiomer migration order in capillary electrophoresis, Anal. Chem. 81 (2009) 8765–8773.
- [52] M. Hammitzsch-Wiedemann, G.K.E. Scriba, Mathematical approach by a selectivity model for rationalization of pH- and selector concentrationdependent reversal of the enantiomer migration order in capillary electrophoresis (correction), Anal. Chem. 82 (2010) 6744.
- [53] I.V. Terekhova, M. Hammitzsch-Wiedemann, Y. Shi, B. Sungthong, G.K.E. Scriba, Investigation of the pH-dependent complex formation between βcyclodextrin and dipeptide enantiomers by capillary electrophoresis and calorimetry, J. Sep. Sci. 33 (2010) 2499–2505.
- [54] N. Mofaddel, H. Krajian, D. Villemin, P.L. Desbene, Enantioseparation of binaphthol and its monoderivatives by cyclodextrin-modified capillary zone electrophoresis: a mathematical approach, Talanta 78 (2009) 631–637.
- [55] M. Lämmerhofer, A. Gargano, Monoliths with chiral surface functionalization for enantioselective capillary electrochromatography, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 53 (2010) 1091–1123.
- [56] B. Chankvetadze, Monolithic chiral stationary phases for liquid-phase enantioseparation techniques, J. Sep. Sci. 33 (2010) 305–314.
- [57] Z. Zhang, R. Wu, M. Wu, H. Zou, Recent progress of chiral monolithic stationary phases in CEC and capillary LC, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1457–1466.
- [58] İ. Tanret, D. Mangelings, Y. Vander Heyden, Monolithic stationary phases in classic and chiral pharmaceutical analysis with CEC and pCEC, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 47 (2009) 407–417.
- [59] C. Simo, V. Garcia-Canas, A. Cifuentes, Chiral CE-MS, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1442–1456.
- [60] R. Ryan, S. Donegan, J. Power, K. Altria, Advances in the theory and application of MEEKC, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 755–767.
- [61] A. Jouyban, E. Kenndler, Impurity analysis of pharmaceuticals using capillary electromigration methods, Electrophoresis 29 (2008) 3531–3551.
- [62] V. Cucinotta, A. Contino, A. Giuffrida, G. Maccarrone, M. Messina, Application of charged single isomer derivatives of cyclodextrins in capillary electrophoresis for chiral analysis, J. Chromatogr. A 1217 (2010) 953–967.
- [63] G.K.E. Scriba, K. Altria, Using cyclodextrins to achieve chiral and non-chiral separations in capillary electrophoresis, LCGC Europe 22 (2009) 420–430.
- [64] S. Fanali, Chiral separations by CE employing CDs, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) S203-S210.
- [65] B. Chankvetadze, Separation of enantiomers with charged chiral selectors in CE, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) S211–S221.
- [66] Z. Juvancz, R.B. Kendrovics, K. Ivanyi, L. Szente, The role of cyclodextrins in chiral capillary electrophoresis, Electrophoresis 29 (2008) 1701–1712.
- [67] A.C. Servais, J. Crommen, M. Fillet, Factors influencing cyclodextrin-mediated chiral separations, in: A. van Eeckhaut, Y. Michotte (Eds.), Chiral Separations by Capillary Electrophoresis, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2010, pp. 87–107.
- [68] W. Bi, S. Lei, X. Yang, Z. Xu, H. Yuan, D. Xiao, M.M.F. Choi, Separation of tyrosine enantiomer derivatives by capillary electrophoresis with lightemitting diode-induced fluorescence detection, Talanta 78 (2009) 1167– 1172.
- [69] A.S. Fayed, S.A. Weshahy, M.A. Shehata, N.Y. Hassan, J. Pauwels, J. Hoogmartens, A. Van Schepdael, Separation and determination of clopidogrel and its impurities by capillary electrophoresis, J. Pharm. Biomed. I Anal. 49 (2009) 193–200.
- [70] S. Wongwan, B. Sungthong, G.K.E. Scriba, CE assay for the simultaneous determination of charged and neutral impurities in dexamphetamine sulfate using a dual CD system, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1475–1481.
- [71] S. Wongwan, G.K.E. Scriba, Impurity profiling of dexamphetamine sulfate by cyclodextrin-modified microemulsion electrokinetic chromatography, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 3006–3011.
- [72] C. Borst, U. Holzgrabe, Comparison of chiral electrophoretic separation methods for phenethylamines and application on impurity analysis, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 53 (2010) 1201–1209.
- [73] M. Castro-Puyana, R. Drewnowska, V. Perez-Fernandez, M. Angeles Garcia, A.L. Crego, M.L. Marina, Simultaneous separation of epinephrine and norepinephrine enantiomers by EKC: application to the analysis of pharmaceutical formulations, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2947–2954.
- [74] J. Kang, D. Kutscher, M. Montes-Bayon, E. Blanco-Gonzalez, A. Sanz-Medel, Enantioselective determination of thyroxine enantiomers by ligandexchange CE with UV absorbance and ICP-MS detection, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 1774–1782.
- [75] A.B. Kojtari, J.P. Foley, Effect of microemulsion component purity on the chromatographic figures of merit in chiral microemulsion electrokinetic chromatography, J. Chromatogr. A 1216 (2009) 3488–3491.
- [76] M. Lecoeur-Lorin, R. Delepee, P. Morin, Sensitivity improvement by using contactless conductivity rather than indirect UV detection for the determination of enantiomeric purity of amines by CE, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 487–498.

- [77] P. Mikus, K. Marakova, I. Valaskova, E. Havranek, Determination of amlodipine enantiomers in pharmaceuticals using capillary electrophoresis separation and diode array detection, Pharmazie 64 (2009) 76–79.
- [78] R. Epple, L. Blanes, A. Beavis, C. Roux, P. Doble, Analysis of amphetaminetype substances by capillary zone electrophoresis using capacitively coupled contactless conductivity detection, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 2608–2613.
- [79] L. Suntornsuk, S. Polyngam, Simultaneous determination of R-(-)-, S-(+)baclofen and impurity A by electrokinetic chromatography, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 51 (2010) 541–548.
- [80] E. Lipka, V. Charton, M.-P. Vaccher, M. Folly-Klan, J.-P. Bonte, C. Vaccher, Enantioseparation of chiral benzimidazole derivatives by electrokinetic chromatography using sulfated cyclodextrins, J. Sep. Sci. 32 (2009) 1907–1915.
- [81] M. Castro-Puyana, C. Garcia-Ruiz, A.L. Crego, M.L. Marina, Development of a CE-MS2 method for the enantiomeric separation of L/D-carnitine: application to the analysis of infant formulas, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 337–348.
- [82] L. Sanchez-Hernandez, C. Garcia-Ruiz, A.L. Crego, M.L. Marina, Sensitive determination of D-carnitine as enantiomeric impurity of levo-carnitine in pharmaceutical formulations by capillary electrophoresis-tandem mass spectrometry, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 53 (2010) 1217–1223.
- [83] R. Wang, Z.-P. Jia, J.-J. Fan, M. Jun, X. Hua, Q. Zhang, J. Wang, Separation and determination of cefotaxime enantiomers in injections by capillary zone electrophoresis, Pharmazie 64 (2009) 156–160.
- [84] N.G. Kokiashvili, S. Wongwan, C. Landgraf, K. Michaelis, M. Hammitzsch-Wiedemann, G.K.E. Scriba, Profiling of levoamphetamine and related substances in dexamphetamine sulfate by capillary electrophoresis, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 50 (2009) 1050–1053.
- [85] D. Hermawan, W.A.W. Ibrahim, M.M. Sangai, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, Chiral separation of econazole using micellar electrokinetic chromatography with hydroxypropyl-γ-cyclodextrin, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 53 (2010) 1244–1249.
- [86] R. Nehme, C. Perrin, V. Guerlavais, J.-A. Fehrentz, H. Cottet, J. Martinez, H. Fabre, Use of coated capillaries for the electrophoretic separation of stereoisomers of a growth hormone secretagogue, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 3772–3779.
- [87] B. Wang, J. He, V. Bianchi, S.A. Shamsi, Combined use of chiral ionic liquid and cyclodextrin for MEKC. Part I. Simultaneous enantioseparation of anionic profens, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2812–2819.
- [88] J.J. Berzas Nevado, G. Castaneda Penalvo, J.C. Jimenez Sanchez, M.C. Mochon, R.M. Rodriguez Dorado, M. Villar Navarro, Optimisation and validation of a new CE method for the determination of lansoprazole enantiomers in pharmaceuticals, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2940–2946.
- [89] P. Mikus, K. Marakova, I. Valaskova, E. Havranek, Enantiomeric purity control of levocetirizine in pharmaceuticals using anionic cyclodextrin mediated capillary electrophoresis separation and fiber-based diode array detection, Pharmazie 64 (2009) 423–427.
- [90] I. Giannini, S. Orlandini, R. Gotti, S. Pinzauti, S. Furlanetto, Sandra, Cyclodextrin-MEEKC for the analysis of oxybutynin and its impurities, Talanta 80 (2009) 781–788.
- [91] K. Phatthiyaphaibun, W. Som-Aum, M. Srisa-ard, J. Threeprom, Determination of pheniramine enantiomers in eye drop by capillary electrophoresis using hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin as chiral selector, J. Anal. Chem. 65 (2010) 755–759.
- [92] Y. Liu, X. Fu, C. Ma, J. Zhong, Y. Liao, H. Liu, Chiral separation of raltitrexed by cyclodextrin-modified micellar electrokinetic chromatography, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 393 (2009) 321–326.
- [93] H. Zhu, E. Wu, J. Chen, C. Men, Y.-S. Jang, W. Kang, J.K. Choi, W. Lee, J.S. Kang, Enantioseparation and determination of sibutramine in pharmaceutical formulations by capillary electrophoresis, Bull. Kor. Chem. Soc. 31 (2010) 1496–1500.
- [94] V. Solinova, V. Kasicka, P. Sazelova, A. Holy, Chiral analysis of anti-acquired immunodeficiency syndrome drug, 9-(R)-[2-(phosphonomethoxy)propyl]adenine (tenofovir), and related antiviral acyclic nucleoside phosphonates by CE using β -CD as chiral selector, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2245–2254.
- [95] H. Ye, L. Yu, X. Xu, C. Zheng, W. Lin, X. Liu, G. Chen, Affinity capillary electrophoresis coupling with partial filling technique and fieldamplified sample injection for enantioseparation and determination of DL-tetrahydropalmatine, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 2049–2054.
- [96] A.C. Cabordery, M. Toussaint, J.P. Bonte, P. Melnyk, C. Vaccher, C. Foulon, Separation of Tic-hydantoin enantiomers, potent sigma-1 agonists, by high

performance liquid chromatography and capillary electrophoresis, J. Chromatogr. A 1217 (2010) 3871–3875.

- [97] D.B. Gomis, C.B. Velasco, I.H. Sanchez, M.D.G. Alvarez, Enantioselective determination of modafinil in pharmaceutical formulations by capillary electrophoresis and computational calculation of their inclusion complexes, J. Liq. Chromatogr. Rel. Technol. 32 (2009) 2654–2668.
- [98] M. Karazniewicz-lada, M. Luczak, F. Glowka, Pharmacokinetic studies of enantiomers of ibuprofen and its chiral metabolites in humans with different variants of genes coding CYP2C8 and CYP2C9 isoenzymes, Xenobiotica 39 (2009) 476–485.
- [99] A. Schmitz, W. Thromann, L. Moessner, R. Theurillat, K. Helmja, M. Mevissen, Enantioselective, CE analysis of hepatic ketamine metabolism in different species in vitro, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1506–1516.
- [100] A. Rousseau, F. Gillotin, P. Chiap, J. Crommen, M. Fillet, A.-C. Servais, Association of two single-isomer anionic CD in NACE for the chiral and achiral separation of fenbendazol, its suphoxide and sulphone metabolites: Application to their determination after in vitro metabolism, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1482–1487.
- [101] T. Barth, M.T. Pupo, K.B. Borges, L.T. Okano, P.S. Bonato, Stereoselective determination of midodrine and desglymidodrine in culture medium: application to a biotransformation study employing endophytic fungi, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 1521–1528.
- [102] K. Choi, J. Kim, Y.O. Jang, D.S. Chung, Direct chiral analysis of primary amine drugs in human urine by single drop microextraction in-line coupled to CE, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2905–2911.
- [103] S. Wei, W. Mai, Z. Yan, Determination of anisodamine enantiomers in rabbit plasma samples by solid-phase extraction with capillary electrophoresis, Huaxue Xuebao 67 (2009) 801–807.
- [104] X. Li, B. Song, B. Yuan, J. Sun, T. You, Enantioseparation of dioxopromethazine hydrochloride in urine with liquid–liquid extraction by CE-ECL detection, Chromatographia 70 (2009) 1291–1293.
- [105] C.D. Cardoso, P.S. Bonato, P. Sueli, Enantioselective metabolism of hydroxychloroquine employing rats and mice hepatic microsomes, Bras. J. Pharm. Sci. 45 (2009) 659–667.
- [106] Y. Iwamuro, R. Iio-Ishimaru, S. Chinaka, N. Takayama, S. Kodama, K. Hayakawa, Reproducible chiral capillary electrophoresis of methamphetamine and its related compounds using a chemically modified capillary having diol groups, Forensic Toxicol. 28 (2010) 19–24.
- [107] F.J. Malagueno de Santana, V.A.P. Jabor, E.J. Cesarino, V.L Lanchote, P.S. Bonato, Enantioselective analysis of mirtazapine, demethylmirtazapine and 8-hydroxy mirtazapine in human urine after solid-phase microextraction, J. Sep. Sci. 33 (2010) 268–276.
- [108] K.B. Borges, M.T. Pupo, P.S. Bonato, Enantioselective analysis of propranolol and 4-hydroxypropranolol by CE with application to biotransformation studies employing endophytic fungi. Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 3910–3947.
- [109] C. Jiang, D.W. Armstrong, Use of CE for the determination of binding constants, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 17–27.
- [110] B.-L. Chu, J.-M. Lin, Z. Wang, B. Guo, Enantiospecific binding of rotigotine and its antipode to serum albumins: investigation of binding constants and binding sites by partial-filling ACE, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2845–2852.
- [111] S. Maddi, M.R. Yamsani, A. Seeling, G.K.E. Scriba, Stereoselective plasma protein binding of amlodipine, Chirality 22 (2010) 262–266.
- [112] J. Zhang, J. Hoogmartens, A. Van Schepdael, Recent developments and applications of EMMA in enzymatic and derivatization reactions, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 65–73.
- [113] Y. Fan, G.K.E. Scriba, Advances in capillary electrophoretic enzyme assays, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 53 (2010) 1076–1090.
- [114] L. Qi, G. Yang, H. Zhang, J. Qiao, A chiral ligand exchange CE essay with zinc(II)-L-valine complex for determining enzyme kinetic constant of L-amino acid oxidase, Talanta 81 (2010) 1554–1559.
- [115] L. Qi, J. Qiao, G. Yang, Y. Chen, Chiral ligand-exchange CE assays for separation of amino acid enantiomers and determination of enzyme kinetic constant, Electrophoresis 30 (2009) 2266–2272.
- [116] J.M.A. Gavina, C.E. White, T.M. Finan, P. Britz-McKibbin, Determination of 4-hydroxyproline-2-epimerase activity by capillary electrophoresis: a stereoselective platform for inhibitor screening of amino acid isomerases, Electrophoresis 31 (2010) 2831–2837.
- [117] S. Nagl, P. Schulze, M. Ludwig, D. Belder, Progress in microchip enantioseparations, Electrophoresis 30 (2010) 2765–2772.